A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated Mr. Naillon' s right to present a

defense when it denied his motion for an independent expert, in

violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and

Article I, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution. 

2. The trial court deprived Mr. Naillon of the right to due

process when it denied his motion for an independent expert, in

violation of the federal and state constitutions. 

3. The trial court interfered with the effective assistance of Mr. 

Naillon' s counsel, when the court refused to approve public funds for

the independent laboratory test requested by Mr. Naillon, which was

essential to his defense. 

4. The trial court violated Mr. Naillon' s due process rights and

improperly encumbered his right to testify when it ordered a courtroom

security officer be posted next to Mr. Naillon while he testified in his

own defense. 

5. The court erred by imposing legal financial obligations

without inquiring into Mr. Naillon' s indigence or his ability to pay. 

1



B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Sixth Amendment' s guarantee of the right to present a

defense and the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee of due process, 

along with similar guarantees of the Washington Constitution, are

violated where a trial court bars a defendant from presenting relevant

evidence. Washington courts have concluded that so long as evidence

is minimally relevant, the refusal to admit evidence violates a

defendant' s rights unless the State can establish the relevance is

outweighed by potential prejudice to the fairness of the process. Where

the trial denied Mr. Naillon' s motion for an independent expert, did the

court violate Mr. Naillon' s right to due process under the United States

and Washington Constitutions? 

2. The Fourteenth Amendment, as well as CrR 3. 1( f), entitle

indigent defendants to the appointment of experts at public expense. In

addition, the right to the effective assistance of counsel includes the

necessary hiring and payment of experts to help defend against the

State' s charges. Did the trial court err where it refused to permit the

independent testing requested by Mr. Naillon, which was essential to

his defense? And did the court, in denying his request for an

2



independent laboratory test, thus deprive him of the effective assistance

of counsel? 

3. In a criminal trial, an accused has a due process right to

testify, which cannot be encumbered by visible, prejudicial security

measures. U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, XIV; Art. I, § 3, 22. Any

courtroom security measures must be necessary and supported by facts

within the record. Were the protections of due process and the

presumption of innocence violated where the court posted a security

officer next to Mr. Naillon during his testimony, lacking any

individualized findings that he posed a threat of injury, disorderly

conduct, or escape, as required by State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 635

P.2d 694 ( 1981) and State v. Jaime, 168 Wn.2d 857, 862, 233 P. 3d 554

2010)? 

4. Before imposing legal financial obligations, a sentencing

court must make an inquiry as to a defendant' s ability to pay. This

court may address a trial court' s failure to conduct this inquiry for the

first time on appeal. The trial court here imposed discretionary

financial obligations against an indigent defendant, although it did not

inquire on the record as to the defendant' s ability to pay. Following

our Supreme Court' s lead, should this Court remand for a proper

3



determination as to the defendant' s ability to pay discretionary legal

financial obligations in excess of $4000? State v. Blazina, 344 P. 3d

680, No. 89028 -5 ( Mar. 12, 2015). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Naillon clearly remembers June 17, 2014, because this

was the day that he helped some friends move from their home to a

storage unit. RP 268. After finishing this task, Mr. Naillon walked to

the Mormon church on 30th Street in Longview, still burdened with a

bag containing some of the belongings given to him by his friends. Id. 

In the church parking lot, Mr. Naillon saw a familiar car; he

thought the rare Cadillac might belong to his mother, since she was a

Mormon Church member and drove a similar car. RP 267 -68.
1

Finding the Cadillac unlocked, Mr. Naillon explored the car a bit, 

leaving when a bystander noticed him. RP 207. He took nothing from

the car, and walked over to a nearby alley; he did not run or leave the

area. Id. at 207, 271 -72. 

The bystander and her daughter called Longview police, who

soon responded to the scene. RP 206 -08, 227 -28. Officers detained

1
Both Mr. Naillon and the owner stated the car was a white

Cadillac Deville with a " pearly" or "pearlescent" finish. RP 214, 267. 
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Mr. Naillon, and once he was identified by the eye- witness, officers

arrested and searched Mr. Naillon. RP 232, 273 -74. Officers

recovered a glass pipe containing a small amount of crystalline residue

from Mr. Naillon' s back pocket. Following testing at the state crime

lab, the residue ultimately was determined to contain a small amount of

purported methamphetamine. RP 251. 

Mr. Naillon was charged with vehicle prowling in the second

and degree and violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act

VUCSA). CP 23 -25.
2

During pre -trial hearings, Mr. Naillon repeatedly requested

independent testing of the " incense burner" recovered from his pocket. 

RP 12, 19, 26 -27, 48 -52, 65 -66, 85 -86, 146 -47. At one such hearing, 

on August 19, 2014, the Honorable Michael Evans explained that Mr. 

Naillon' s request for independent testing was " a fairly common request

and that' s commonly granted." RP 65 -66. The matter was continued

and was then transferred to a different judge -- the Honorable Marilyn

Haan -- who denied the motion for an independent laboratory test

2

An additional count of possession of stolen property, as to items
in Mr. Naillon' s shopping cart allegedly belonging to the local Safeway
store, was dismissed by the State before trial. RP 157. 
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without explanation on September 2, 2014. RP 148.
3

Judge Haan did

not hear argument on the motion and made no findings, but simply

stated, " I have reviewed the motion and I find absolutely no legal basis

that allows you a second test to occur here. So that request is denied." 

RP 148. 

Following a jury trial, Mr. Naillon was found guilty of vehicle

prowling and VUCSA. CP 48 -49. 

He timely appeals. CP 65 -79. 

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT' S DENIAL OF MR. NAILLON' S

REQUEST FOR A DEFENSE EXPERT DEPRIVED

HIM OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE

PROCESS, TO PRESENT A DEFENSE, AND TO THE

EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL. 

The trial court should have granted Mr. Naillon' s request for an

independent defense expert to test the alleged controlled substance. 

Such an expert was essential to his defense, and the denial of

independent laboratory testing violated Mr. Naillon' s right to a fair trial

and impermissibly impeded his ability to present a defense. U. S. 

Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Art. I, § 3. 

Judge Evans stated that he personally knew the owner of the
Cadillac and could not be fair. RP 68. 

6



a. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an

individual the tools necessary for counsel to present
an effective defense. 

A person accused of a crime is entitled to the effective

assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 693, 

104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 ( 1984). It is axiomatic that an accused

person who cannot afford to hire private counsel has the right to have

appointed counsel represent him at all stages of proceedings. E.g., 

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799

1963); McCoy v. Court of Appeals of Wisconsin, Dist. 1, 486 U.S. 

429, 435, 108 S. Ct. 1895, 100 L.Ed.2d 440 ( 1988); Evitts v. Lucey, 

469 U.S. 387, 395, 105 S. Ct. 830, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 ( 1985). 

This Court has held that the State must provide indigent

defendants " with the basic tools of an adequate defense ... when those

tools are available for a price to other prisoners." State v. Cuthbert, 

154 Wn. App. 318, 329, 225 P. 3d 407 ( 2010) ( quoting Britt v. North

Carolina, 404 U.S. 226, 227, 92 S. Ct. 431, 30 L.Ed.2d 400 ( 1971)). In

Cuthbert, this Court specifically discussed the " constitutional right to

the assistance of an expert as provided in CrR 3. 1." 154 Wn. App. at

330 ( internal quotations omitted); see also State v. Poulsen, 45 Wn. 
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App. 706, 709, 726 P. 2d 1036 ( 1986) ( error not to allow defendant to

call own expert witness to establish psychiatric defense). 

In Poulsen, an indigent defendant moved for a publicly- funded

expert to establish a diminished capacity defense. 45 Wn. App. at 710. 

This Court held that denying Mr. Poulsen the funds for such an expert

witness violated the principles of due process and equal justice. Id. 

Justice cannot be equal where, simply as a result of his poverty, a

defendant is denied the opportunity to participate meaningfully in a

judicial proceeding in which his liberty is at stake." Id. (quoting Ake v. 

Oklahoma, 470 U.S. at 68, 76, 105 S. Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 ( 1985)). 

Likewise, in City of Mount Vernon v. Cochran, an indigent

defendant sought to call an independent expert witness to challenge the

reliability of the BAC (blood - alcohol concentration) testing protocol. 70

Wn. App. 517, 518 -19, 855 P.2d 1180 ( 1993). Because Mr. Cochran

sought to pay this expert from public funds, the City objected, arguing

Mr. Cochran had not shown: 1) the defense expert' s testimony was

necessary to an adequate defense; or that 2) the defense expert' s

testimony was generally accepted in the scientific community. Id. at

8



519.
4

The Cochran Court upheld the lower court' s decision to authorize

public funding for the defense expert, noting that the Superior Court had

relied in part on the " belief that a defendant with the independent means

to hire [ an expert] would have done so. This is an appropriate factor to

consider in making the discretionary determination of necessity under

CrRLJ 3. 1( 0." Id. at 526. 

Mr. Naillon' s case is distinguishable from State v. Heffner, 

where this Court considered the necessity for an expert in a theft case at

a casino. 126 Wn. App. 803, 810, 110 P. 3d 219 ( 2005). In Heffner, 

this Court found no substantial prejudice to the accused, because he had

failed to state why an expert was needed, or to state with any specificity

the aspect of the evidence an expert was needed to rebut." Id. at 809. 

Here, Mr. Naillon argued repeatedly and specifically that he did not

know or believe that the incense burner recovered from him contained

any controlled substance. RP 12, 19, 26 -27, 48 -52, 65 -66, 85 -86, 146- 

47. Mr. Naillon' s counsel called laboratories and prepared an order

4
The Cochran Court also found no abuse of discretion in the

Superior Court' s ruling that included the finding that " most of what he
defense expert] proposes is preposterous, ... The other side of the coin is

that ... I do think that his testimony may be helpful, and I don' t think it
requires the showing of absolute necessity." 70 Wn. App. at 520
authorizing appointment of defense expert with showing of "reasonable

necessity "). 
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requesting funds for an expert to test the alleged controlled substance, 

unlike the vague assertions in the Heffner case. RP 65, 85 -86. Lastly, 

Mr. Naillon presented a defense of unwitting possession, which was

consistent with his request for re- testing of the alleged residue by a

defense expert. RP 315; CP 41. 

The trial court' s summary denial of Mr. Naillon' s motion for an

independent expert deprived his counsel of the ability to present an

effective defense, calling for reversal by this Court on due process

grounds. Poulson, 45 Wn. App. at 710; Cochran, 70 Wn. App. at 519; 

see Ake, 470 U.S. at 76. 

b. The Sixth Amendment guarantees an individual the

right to present a defense. 

The Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the right to

present a defense. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 318, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 

39 L.Ed.2d 347 ( 1974). A defendant must receive the opportunity to

present his version of the facts to the jury so that it may decide " where

the truth lies." Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 

18 L.Ed.2d 1019 ( 1967); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294- 

95, 302, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 ( 1973); State v. Jones, 168

Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 ( 2010). "[ Alt a minimum ... criminal

defendants have ... the right to put before the jury evidence that might
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influence the determination of guilt." Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480

U.S. 39, 56, 107 S. Ct. 989, 94 L.Ed.2d 40 ( 1987). 

So long as evidence is minimally relevant, 

the burden is on the State to show the evidence is so

prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact - finding
process at trial." The State' s interest in excluding
prejudicial evidence must also " be balanced against the

defendant' s need for the information sought," and

relevant information can be withheld only " if the State' s
interest outweighs the defendant' s need." 

Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720 ( quoting State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 

622, 41 P. 3d 1189 ( 2002)) ( internal citations omitted). 

Both the United States and our own Supreme Courts have

rejected the argument that " neutral scientific testing" is as neutral or as

reliable as suggested by the State' s lone chemical analysis. Melendez- 

Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 318, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 2536 -37, 

174 L. Ed. 2d 314 ( 2009) ( "Forensic evidence is not uniquely immune

from the risk of manipulation "); State v. Lui, 153 Wn. App. 304, 317- 

18, 221 P.3d 948, 955 ( 2009), aff d, 179 Wn. 2d 457, 315 P. 3d 493

2014).
5

The Melendez -Diaz Court noted its concern that a forensic

5

One study of cases in which exonerating evidence resulted in the
overturning of criminal convictions concluded that invalid forensic
testimony contributed to the convictions in 60% of the cases. Garrett & 

Neufeld, Invalid Forensic Science Testimony and Wrongful Convictions, 
95 Va. L.Rev. 1, 14 ( 2009). 

11



analyst employed by the State " may feel pressure —or have an

incentive —to alter the evidence in a manner favorable to the

prosecution." 557 U.S. at 318. The Court held that confrontation can

ensure accuracy in forensic analysis – so here, can the opportunity to

present independent forensic analysis and expert testimony. See

Poulson, 45 Wn. App. at 710; Cochran, 70 Wn. App. at 519; Ake, 470

U.S. at 76. 

Here, the court rejected, without explanation or findings, Mr. 

Naillon' s motion to have the alleged controlled substance re- tested, and

to present an independent expert witness on this subject, which was

crucial to his defense. Mr. Naillon repeatedly argued that an

independent laboratory test would have shown the substance on the

incense burner /pipe was something other than a controlled substance. 

E. g., RP 12, 26 -27, 48 -52, 65 -66, 85 -86. 

The trial court should have applied the standard set forth in

Jones -- specifically, that the proposed evidence regarding a defense

expert was admissible, unless it was " so prejudicial as to disrupt the

fairness of the fact - finding process at trial" and that this prejudice

12



outweighed Mr. Naillon' s need for the evidence. See Jones, 168 Wn.2d

at 720. 

Neither the trial court, nor the State, met that standard. The trial

court made no showing ofprejudice at all, much less a showing that

admission of this relevant evidence would upset the fairness of the

proceeding. The trial court' s erroneous ruling — lacking findings or a

hearing -- deprived Mr. Naillon of his right under the Sixth Amendment

and Article 1, section 22 to present a defense. 

c. This Court should reverse Mr. Naillon' s convictions

so that he may have a trial that satisfies his right to
present a defense and his right to due process. 

A constitutional error requires reversal unless the State can

establish beyond a reasonable doubt the error " did not contribute to the

verdict obtained." Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 

824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 ( 1967); United States v. Neder, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119

S. Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 ( 1999). To meet its burden here, the State

must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that none of the jurors could

have entertained a doubt as to Mr. Naillon' s guilt after hearing

scientific evidence from an independent expert witness. Because the

State cannot meet that burden, this Court should reverse Mr. Naillon' s

convictions. 

13



2. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. NAILLON' S

DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN IT PLACED A

COURT OFFICER BESIDE HIM AS HE TESTIFIED, 

WITHOUT ANY FINDING OF NECESSITY. 

a. A trial court may not order security restrictions
in the courtroom that prejudice the accused by
removing his Due Process presumption of
innocence, without compelling cause. 

The trial court is vested with discretion to provide for the

security of its courtroom. State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 396, 635

P.2d 694 ( 1981). However, a court cannot, without compelling cause

found on the record, simply order security restrictions in the courtroom

that prejudice the accused by removing his due process presumption of

innocence before the jury. U. S. Const. amends. V, VI, XIV; Const. 

Art. I, § 3, § 22; State v. Jaime, 168 Wn.2d 857, 862, 233 P.3d 554

2010); Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d at 401 ( court would abuse discretion to

extend " blanket order shackling procedure" to accused due to security

concerns at DOC facility, but not due to specific conduct of individual

accused found on the record); see Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 

503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 ( 1976) ( presumption of innocence

is basic component of Due Process). 

Here, the court did not hold a hearing, and did not make any

findings; thus, it did not " make a record of a compelling individualized

14



threat" posed by Mr. Naillon, before stating it intended to impose a

dramatic and noticeable security measure that would prejudice him as

dangerous or potentially violent before the jury. State v. Gonzalez, 129

Wn. App. 895, 901 -02, 120 P. 3d 645 ( 2005) ( citing State v. Hartzog, 

96 Wn.2d at 397 -98). This determination violated Mr. Naillon' s right

to testify in his defense unencumbered by an armed and uniformed

court officer beside him. RP 262 -64. 

b. Proposed measures by court personnel and
paucity of findings by trial court itself. 

Shortly after the State rested its case, there was a discussion in

the jury' s absence concerning the defense case. RP 260 -63. A member

of the court staff, referred to only as " Court Officer," initiated a

conversation with the court regarding security precautions needed, 

should Mr. Naillon choose to testify. Mr. Naillon objected to the

presence of a court officer beside him at the witness stand, stating that

he had no history ofbeing a " flight risk." RP 263. The following

colloquy occurred: 

Court Officer: Your Honor, if he' s going to testify, one
of us is going to -- 

Judge Haan: We need to have him seated. Well, I' ll

take the jury out and have you take him
up, seat him — 

15



Court Officer: Well, one of us will be standing up there. 

Judge Haan: Yeah. Yeah. 

Court Officer: Just so that you — 

Judge Haan: 

Defendant: 

Defense Co.: 

Defendant: 

Judge Haan: 

Defendant: 

Judge Haan: 

Defense Co.: 

Defendant: 

Court Officer: 

Judge Haan: 

Defendant: 

Judge Haan: 

But what I' m saying is — 

I have to have somebody near me while I' m
up there? 

That would be up to the judge, not me. 

Ma' am, I feel that that' s going to — 

Mr. Naillon, stop. I' m not talking to you at
the moment. 

Well — 

So what I would do is — when he is called — 

actually when it' s planned for him to be
called — are you going to put him on next? 

Yes. You want to go first, don' t you? 

It' s up to you but I — I don' t see how I

should have a guard up there by me, I mean
it' s just — 

Because there' s an exit door there. 

Okay. The guard is going to be there. 

I' ve never been a flight risk. I' ve never

been a flight risk. 

So the question, I guess, are you going to do
your opening? 

16



Defense Co.: 

Judge Haan: 

No, Your Honor. We' re just going to do the
closing is what we' re going to do. 

Okay. All right. So, ifyou want to go ahead

and take him up there at this time, go ahead
and seat him. 

Court Officer: It' s — it' s just our procedure, Rob. 

RP 262 -64 ( Mr. Naillon is escorted to witness box and then jury enters).

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