NO. 46754-2-II

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON,**

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT WADE NAILLON,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
SEAN BRITTAIN/WSBA 36804
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE
312 SW FIRST
KELSO, WA 98626
(360) 577-3080

3.	THE COURT IS NOT OBLIGATED TO REVIEW THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS.	11
4.	THE APPELLANT'S PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED.	12
V.	CONCLUSION	17

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

IV. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED MR. NAILLON'S PRO SE MOTION FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF AN EXPERT WITNESS.

a. Standard of review

CrR 3.1 establishes that an indigent defendant has the right to the appointment and payment of expert services when necessary to an adequate

² Mr. Baldwin had previously withdrawn due to a conflict. 1RP 48-57.

defense. CrR 3.1; *State v. Young*, 125 Wn.2d 688, 888 P.2d 142 (1995) (citing *State v. Mines*, 35 Wn. App. 932, 671 P.2d 273 (1983), *review denied*, 101 Wn.2d 1010 (1984)). “The determination of whether such services are necessary for an adequate defense is in the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal unless the appellant clearly establishes substantial prejudice.” *Mines*, 35 Wn. App. at 935 (citing *State v. Stamm*, 16 Wn. App. 603, 559 P.2d 1 (1976)). The trial court’s decision will not be overturned unless there is an abuse of discretion, which occurs when its ruling is “manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds.” *State v. Cuthbert*, 154 Wn. App. 318, 225 P.3d 407 (2010) (citing *State v. French*, 157 Wn.2d 593, 141 P.3d 54 (2006); *State v. Mee Hui Kim*, 134 Wn. App. 27, 139 P.3d 354 (2006)).

b. Mr. Naillon did not establish that the appointment of an expert was necessary to an adequate defense.

Mr. Naillon’s defense at trial was unwitting possession, specifically that he was unaware that the methamphetamine pipe was in his pocket. 1RP 146-47 (“It was in my back pocket, I didn’t know it was there...”); 2A RP 273-74 (“...I don’t know if somebody put something in my pocket...”); 2A RP 290 (“Question: Mr. Naillon were you aware that you had that glass object in your back pocket when the officer found it?” Answer: “No. No.”);

2A RP 292 (“I’ll say it magically appeared.”). He did not contest whether the substance inside of the pipe was methamphetamine.

In review of his pro se motion, Mr. Naillon requested to have the methamphetamine residue retested by a private lab. CP 17. However, Mr. Naillon did not state why he was requesting the retesting, who would perform the retesting, or how it would be necessary for his defense. Mr. Naillon is incorrect in stating that his trial counsel “called laboratories” to have the methamphetamine retested. Appellant’s Brief at 10. Instead, he indicated that he was *intending on contacting* different laboratories. 1RP at 65. Mr. Naillon’s trial counsel later indicated that he had an order for retesting prepared. 1RP 85. However, this order was never filed; thus, we do not know (a) whether he had actually contacted a laboratory and arranged for the methamphetamine to be retested, (b) who would be performing this retesting, and (c) how this would help establish that he did not know the methamphetamine pipe was in his possession.

State v. Heffner, 126 Wn. App. 803, 110 P.3d 219 (2005) is directly on point with the present matter. In *Heffner*, the trial court denied the defendant’s request for the appointment for an expert witness. “[T]he court denied the motion because Mr. Heffner did not identify the expert witness he wished to present, or the cost of services, and he could not state with any specificity why an expert was needed. *Heffner*, 126 Wn. App. at 809. “Mr.

Heffner does not claim there was any likelihood that an expert would have materially assisted defense counsel in the preparation or presentation of his case.” *Id.*

The trial court’s decision to deny Mr. Naillon’s request for additional lab testing was not manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds because Mr. Naillon never established that additional testing was necessary to his defense. The requested additional testing was not consistent with his defense. He was not claiming that he did not know the substance inside of the pipe was methamphetamine. Instead, he simply denied knowing the pipe was in his possession. The lack of an expert did not prevent him from denying knowledge that he was in possession of the methamphetamine pipe. Likewise, the lack of an expert did not prevent or inhibit his trial counsel from making that exact argument to the jury. Therefore, the lack of independent testing was not necessary for him to present an adequate defense.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE MR. NAILLON’S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS BY ALLOWING A COURT OFFICER TO STAND NEAR MR. NAILLON DURING HIS TESTIMONY.

a. The record is insufficient to establish any error occurred.

“A defendant has the right to appear before the jury free of shackles or other restraints.” *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 959 P.2d 1061

(1998) (citing *Wilson v. McCarthy*, 770 F.2d 1482, 1484 (9th Cir. 1985).”

“The trial court has broad discretion to provide for order and security in the courtroom and to shackle the defendant if such measures are necessary.”

State v. Breedlove, 79 Wn. App. 101, 900 P.2d 586 (1995).

...the presence of guards at a defendant’s trial need not be interpreted as a sign that he is particularly dangerous or culpable. Jurors may just as easily believe that the officers are there to guard against disruptions emanating from outside the courtroom or to ensure that tense courtroom exchanges do not erupt in violence. Indeed, *it is entirely possible that jurors will not infer anything at all from the presence of the guards.*

Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 106 S.Ct. 1340, 89 L.Ed.2d 525 (1986)

(*emphasis added*).

Here, the record is simply insufficient to establish that the presence of the court officer while Mr. Naillon testified had any effect upon the jury. There is nothing that would even remotely indicate that the jury even observed the court officer standing near the witness stand. The record does establish that the jury did not see Mr. Naillon escorted by the court officer to the witness stand because they had previously been excused from the courtroom. 2A RP 265. Likewise, the record establishes that the jury did not see Mr. Naillon escorted back to counsel table because they, again, had been excused from the courtroom. 2A RP 293.

Simply put, Mr. Naillon assumes and speculates that (a) the jury saw the court officer while Mr. Naillon was testifying, and (b) that the court officer's presence had an effect on Mr. Naillon's presumption of innocence. These assumptions and speculation are without merit. Mr. Naillon was not seen in shackles. Mr. Naillon was not seen "in-custody" of the court officers. Mr. Naillon was not seen being escorted by the court officers. The party seeking review has the burden of perfecting the record so that the reviewing court has all relevant evidence before it. *Bulzomi v. Dept't of Labor & Inds.*, 72 Wn. App. 522, 864 P.2d 996 (1994). Review of alleged errors is precluded if the record on appeal is insufficient. *Id.*

b. Alternatively, any error in Mr. Naillon's restraint was harmless.

"A claim of unconstitutional shackling is subject to harmless error analysis." *Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d at 888. Thus, Mr. Naillon was must show that his restraint "had a substantial or injurious effect or influence on the jury's verdict." *Id.* Again, as stated above, Mr. Naillon's argument is based upon assumption and speculation. The jury did not see him escorted by the court officer. Nothing in the record establishes that the jury was even aware the court officer was in Mr. Naillon's presence while he testified. "Because the jury never saw the Defendant in shackles, he cannot show prejudice." *Id.* Therefore, Mr. Naillon cannot show that he was prejudice.

As such, any error in the trial court allowing the court officer to remain near Mr. Naillon while he testified was harmless.

c. Mr. Naillon’s trial counsel did not object to the court officer’s presence; thus, he did not preserve this issue for appeal.

Mr. Naillon’s trial counsel did not object to the presence of the court officer during testimony. Although Mr. Naillon disagreed with the presence of the court officer, no formal objection was ever made. Thus, even if we were to assume that the jury observed the court officer standing near Mr. Naillon while he was testifying and that this had a profound effect upon his presumption of innocence, he must establish that this was a manifest error that affected a constitutional error. RAP 2.5(3). Failure to do so will prevent Mr. Naillon from raising this issue for the first time on appeal. *State v. Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 327 P.3d 46 (2014).

“The defendant must make a plausible showing that the error resulted in actual prejudice, which means that the claimed error had practical and identifiable consequences at trial.” *Id* at 583 (citing *State v. Davis*, 175 Wn.2d 287, 290 P.3d 43 (2012); *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 260 P.3d 884 (2011); *State v. O’Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)). As stated above, there is nothing in the record to show that the jury ever observed or noticed the court officer. Likewise, nothing in the record

suggests that the court officer's presence affected the jury. Mr. Naillon cannot establish any actual prejudice here.

3. THE COURT IS NOT OBLIGATED TO REVIEW THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS.

For the first time on appeal, the Defendant challenges the court's imposition of legal financial obligations, arguing that there is insufficient evidence of his present or future ability to pay. Recently, the Washington Supreme Court decided *State v. Blazina*, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). It held that it is not error for a Court of Appeals to decline to reach the merits on a challenge to the imposition of LFO's made for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 682. "Unpreserved LFO errors do not command review as a matter of right under *Ford* and its progeny." *Id.* at 684. The decision to review is discretionary on the reviewing court under RAP 2.5. *Id.* at 681.

This Court should continue to apply its initial decision in *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 301 P.3d 492 (2013) ("Because he did not object in the trial court to finding 2.5, we decline to allow him to raise it for the first time on appeal."). This is supported by this Court's recent holding in *State v. Lyle*, COA No. 46101-3-II (July 10, 2014) ("Our decision in *Blazina*, issued before Lyle's March 14, 2014 sentencing, provided notice that the failure to object to LFOs during sentencing waives a related claim

of error on appeal.”). Ms. Brooks was sentenced on November 6, 2014, well after the decision in *Blazina*. CP 53-64.

RAP 2.5(a) reflects a policy which encourages the efficient use of judicial resources and discourages late claims that could have been corrected with a timely objection. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). The Appellant did not object to the legal financial obligations at the time of sentencing. The State respectfully requests this court not review the Appellant’s claim.

4. THE APPELLANT’S PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED.

A petitioner may request relief through a PRP when he is under an unlawful restraint. RAP 16.4(a) - (c). Our Supreme Court has limited collateral relief available through a PRP “because it undermines the principles of finality of litigation, degrades the prominence of trial, and sometimes deprives society of the right to punish admitted offenders.” *In re Pers. Restraint of Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (quoting *In re Pers. Restraint of St. Pierre*, 118 Wn.2d 321, 823 P.2d 492 (1992)). For a personal restraint petition to succeed, it must prove either a “(1) constitutional error that results in actual and substantial prejudice or (2) nonconstitutional error that ‘constitutes a fundamental defect which inherently results in a complete miscarriage of justice.’” *In re Pers.*

Restraint of Monschke, 160 Wn. App. 479, 251 P.3d 884 (2010) (quoting *In re Pers. Restraint of Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 101 P.3d 1 (2004)). “Additionally, the petitioner must prove the error by a preponderance of the evidence. *Monschke*, 160 Wn. App. at 488 (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Lord*, 152 Wn.2d 182, 94 P.3d 952 (2004)).

When a personal restraint petition is based on matters outside the appellate record, a petitioner must show that he has competent, admissible evidence to support his arguments. *In re Pers. Restraint of Brennan*, 117 Wn. App. 797, 72 P.3d 182 (2003). The evidence must be more than speculation, conjecture, or inadmissible hearsay. *In re Pers. Restraint of Gronquist*, 138 Wn.2d 388, 978 P.2d 1083 (1999), *cert. denied*, 528 U.S. 1009, 120 S.Ct. 507, 145 L.Ed.2d 392 (1999).

The evidentiary prerequisite enables courts to avoid the time and expense of a reference hearing when the petition, though facially adequate, has no apparent basis in provable fact. In other words, the purpose of a reference hearing is to resolve genuine factual disputes, not to determine whether the petitioner actually has evidence to support his allegations. Thus, a mere statement of evidence that the petitioner *believes* will prove his factual allegations is not sufficient. If the petitioner's allegations are based on matters outside the existing record, the petitioner must demonstrate that he has competent, admissible evidence to establish the facts that entitle him to relief. If the petitioner's evidence is based on knowledge in the possession of others, he may not simply state what he thinks those others would say, but must present their affidavits or other corroborative evidence. The affidavits, in turn, must contain matters to which the affiants may competently testify. In short, the petitioner must

present evidence showing that his factual allegations are based on more than speculation, conjecture, or inadmissible hearsay.

In re Pers. Restraint of Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992)

(emphasis in the original).

Mr. Naillon has four arguments. His first argument is in regards to his request to have the methamphetamine retested. The State addressed this issue in his direct appeal. The State requests this court not review this argument since it is a part of his direct appeal.

Mr. Naillon's next claims that because the field test of the methamphetamine was not done in front of him, the chain of custody was not established. Mr. Naillon does not provide any authority to support that the field test of the methamphetamine is required to be performed in his presence. Mr. Naillon also does not provide any factual basis to challenge the chain of custody in this matter. In fact, the State did establish the chain of custody through Officer Close and Martin McDermot. 2A RP 233-37, 245-251. Therefore, Mr. Naillon cannot establish any error, prejudice, or miscarriage of justice.

Mr. Naillon also argues that he could not access the law library because he was electrocuted by the law library kiosk. However, Mr. Naillon does not provide any facts or evidence to support these contentions. Mr.

Naillon's claims are unsupported by the record and do not establish any constitutional error, prejudice, or miscarriage of justice.

Mr. Naillon also claims that his speedy trial rights were violated. Mr. Naillon was arraigned on July 1, 2014. 1RP 1. Mr. Naillon's original trial counsel, Mr. Baldwin, moved to withdraw from Mr. Naillon's case on August 5, 2014. 1RP 26. Mr. Baldwin claimed that a conflict arose that prevented himself and Mr. Naillon from being able to communicate; thus, he would be unable to competently represent Mr. Naillon. 1RP 29-31. Mr. Naillon initially objected to Mr. Baldwin's motion to withdraw. 1RP 28. Mr. Naillon later changed his mind and did not object to Mr. Baldwin's motion to withdraw. 1RP 35, 38. Mr. Baldwin later filed a sealed affidavit explaining the nature of the conflict. 1RP 48. On August 7, 2014, the court allowed Mr. Baldwin to withdraw from Mr. Naillon's case. 1RP 48.

Kevin Blondin was appointed to represent Mr. Naillon on August 7, 2014. 1RP 53. Mr. Naillon objected to the resetting of his jury trial. 1RP 52. The court reset Mr. Naillon's jury trial to September 8, 2014. 1RP 56-57. On August 12, 2014, Mr. Blondin moved to withdraw from Mr. Naillon's case due to a conflict with a State's witness. Mr. Blondin informed the court that he had a personal and professional relationship with the victim, thereby preventing him from representing Mr. Naillon. 1RP 58. The court granted Mr. Blondin's motion to withdraw and appointed Bruce

Hanify to represent Mr. Naillon. 1RP 64. The trial date of September 8, 2014 was not changed.

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